
 
 CAPITOL AREA ARCHITECTURAL AND PLANNING BOARD 

Friday, February 19th, 2016 
1:30 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 

Veterans Service Building – 5th Floor Conference Room 
St Paul, Minnesota 

 
 

BOARD MINUTES 
 

PRESENT:  Lieutenant Governor, Tina Smith; Ted Lentz;  Elaine Fink;  Senator Sandy Pappas; 
Representative  Matt Dean;  Representative Raymond Dehn;  Jon Fahning; Greg Mathias;  
Advisor Paul Mellblom; Advisor Bryan Carlson;  Advisor Tom Blanck;  Paul Mandell, CAAPB 
Executive Secretary;  Doug Borglund, CAAPB Principal Planner; Senator Carla Nelson – via 
telephone; John Kraemer, Medal of Honor National Convention Committee Member; Tiffany 
Kovaleski, Medal of Honor National Convention Committee Member; Major General Larry 
Shellito, Commissioner of Veterans Affairs; Tim Swanson, Medal of Honor National Convention 
Committee Member; David Kelliher, MN Historical Society; Wayne Waslaski, Dir. Admin, RECS;  
Brian Pease, MNHS; Brian Szott, MNHS; Gail Romanowski, House Chief Clerk’s Office; Nancy 
Stark, Former CAAPB Executive Secretary and Karen Anderson, OAS, Principal. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT:  Vice Chairman, Mary Ann Buck; Don Grundhauser, David Lanegran 
and Legal Counsel, Nathan Hartshorn 
 
CALL TO ORDER:  Meeting was called to order by Lieutenant Governor Tina Smith at 1:35p.m. 
 
AGENDA ITEM #1: APPROVAL OF BOARD MINUTES 
MOTION was made to approve the CAAPB Board minutes for October 16, 2015, by Board 
Member Elaine Fink, SECONDED by Board Member Ted Lentz.  MOTION CARRIED. 
AGENDA ITEM #2: Medal of Honor Memorial 
Planner Doug Borglund indicated that this is an item that has been discussed with the CAAPB 
and Advisors over the past few years.  John Kraemer who has been the advocate for a Medal of 
Honor Memorial honoring those Minnesotans that received this prestigious award and he has 
continued to pursue the idea of a memorial here at the State Capitol.  Doug stated that there 
had been discussion about the Medal of Honor Memorial at the October Board meeting were it 
was tabled.  He stated that there is an existing plaque in the Court of Honor that does recognize 
the Medal of Honor recipients.  One of the items to consider will be, is the plaque sufficient or 
to do something much larger.  CAAPB has continued to work with John Kraemer and Tiffany 
Kovaleski on the Medal of Honor throughout the fall and winter to get to this point.  The Medal 
of Honor National convention will be held here in Minnesota this October.  Borglund indicated 
that there was a draft of the RFQ in their packet and the CAAPB has a draft available for the 
Board to look at.  He advised the Board that six (6) important steps have been taken since the 
October Board discussion and they are referenced in their packet.  If the Board decides to move 
forward with the Medal of Honor Memorial, the recommendation to the Board is that it will be 
placed at the existing abandoned pool at the Veterans Service Building.  Doug noted some 
issues that the pool has had in the past and by having the memorial at this site, there will be the 
opportunity to enhance the site and correct the infrastructure of the existing pool.   This is a 

1 
 



 
highly visible site in the mall.  With that recommendation would come to two design 
requirements:  the sculpture which is the “Promise of Youth” would remain in place and would 
be incorporated into the design, and that the memorial would fit within the existing granite 
walls of the pool.  This would create a new water feature that would be part of the design.  
 
Borglund indicated that he used google earth to look at those state capitals where there are 
existing Medal of Honor memorials and stated that most include at least a plaque.  He stated he 
has pictures for the Board to look at should they choose to do so.  
 
He also gave a timeline for the memorial and stated that it was a pretty aggressive timeline, 
with the hope of the client to have a design concept to show and promote during the 
convention in October, 2016. 
 
Doug introduced John Kraemer and Tiffany Kovaleski to the Board.   
 
Lt Governor stated that Senator Pappas has now joined the meeting. 
 
Paul Mandell informed the Board of the RFQ and RFP procedure and rules. 
 
Lt Governor Smith offered a motion approving the Medal of Honor with regard to statewide 
significance for this project.  Senator Nelson seconded the motion.  No questions or discussion 
by Board. 
 
Lt. Governor Tina Smith introduced General Shellito, Commissioner of Veterans Affairs.    
General Shellito commented that we are having the Medal of Honor convention here, but 
stated that this was for the survivors.  He passed around a button for the Board to look at and 
stated that this memorial is personal to them, stating that to the veteran community, a plaque 
does not cut it.  As he looked at the plan, he didn’t feel that the plan was ambitious enough, but 
the location is ideal.  He explained why the site was perfect for this memorial, he talked about 
the other memorials near the site, and commented on what a wonderful job Paul Mandell and 
the CAAPB Board have done with the memorials.   He also spoke of the US Ward Gun at the 
Veteran’s Building west lawn and that his idea that the gun might be relocated the pool.   
 
Lt Governor Smith asked the Board if they had any questions for the experts here today.   
Senator Pappas just wanted to say she really appreciate the General’s comments and that it is 
really helpful to remind us all of the sacrifices that were made for our country. 
 
Lt Governor Smith asked for a vote on the motion that this would have statewide significance. 
MOTION CARRIED unanimously.  Lt Governor thanked all the speakers for coming today. 
 
Lt Governor Smith stated the next motion on this topic has to do with the site 
recommendation.  Lt Governor Smith asked for a motion to accept the site for the memorial.  
Motion made by Senator Nelson and seconded by Board Member Ted Lentz. Mr. Mandell 
explained how all the wars and other key events or commemorations are recognized, showing 
on the map where the Court of Honor was and the other memorials around it and the Veterans 
Services Building.  Paul explained about the statue and why it will remain, adding that John and 
2 
 



 
Tiffany could explain the connection.  They have an outreach to all schools and curriculum to 
explain not about the war, but the values behind the medal now capable of being linked with 
and the current statue “The Promise of Youth”.  
 
Tiffany explained the character development program within the Medal of Honor convention. 
The character development program is a program to the Congressional Medal of Honor Society 
as follows: it is something that the 6 different characteristics represents the Medal of Honor 
which are courage, commitment, citizenship, sacrifice, integrity and patriotism. Their progress 
on curriculum to develop those qualities within our youth and to carry that from the youth 
whether you put a uniform on or not, whether you stick up for your friend in school or you 
exude those great qualities as a person in your community.  Having this memorial in the pool 
with the “Promise of Youth” statue is the perfect location to blend these two programs 
together.  Tiffany explained that the six characteristics would be incorporated into the Medal of 
Honor memorial. 
 
Advisor Mellblom stated that there is value in making the reflecting pool into something that 
has integrity and that it currently makes the Capitol grounds look shabby.  He stated this will be 
a great location. 
 
Advisor Carlson stated the design is a very exciting opportunity for us. The characteristics of the 
Medal of Honor and Promise of Youth will give the design teams some really good ideas for this 
memorial and enable their design ideas to enrich this space. 
 
Advisor Blanck commented about water element, stating that it is a wonderful opportunity. 
 
Senator Pappas stated she has seen some very interesting memorials using water, light and 
music around the country and they can be very livable and exciting especially at night and 
would have to work during day and winter.  While originally she wasn’t particularly interested 
due to the number of memorials on the complex, she changed her mind when Tiffany talked 
about the 6 characteristics for the memorial as the focus of the memorial.  That the “Promise of 
Youth” is sacrificing for your country is courage, integrity, etc. is much more of a positive story 
for this memorial and is more the future that we hope for and she is feeling more positive 
about the potential for this memorial, thanking those people working on this memorial. 
 
Senator Nelson stated this is an exciting discussion and appreciates the work of the committee 
and the General’s comments.  
 
Representative Dehn asked if the project includes making sure the water does not leak into the 
tunnel. What is the process to make sure that does not happen again. 
 
Paul Mandell stated when the pool was repaired in the 90’s some people stated it was where 
this over-engineered and he is not sure if the pool leaked or if it was the mechanisms that 
deliver the water.  It was basically abandoned the minute the leak was discovered, and since 
then the space has been used in various ways.  The repair would be part of the overall budget 
for the new memorial, since there was going to be a water feature. 
 
3 
 



 
Greg Mathis asked if the existing plaque would remain in place and Paul Mandell indicated that 
it would.  Mr. Mathis asked if there was anything the board would have to frame in their 
motion to address the one memorial?  Paul Mandell stated that all the war memorials that have 
had their respective plaques remain in place. 
 
John Kraemer stated that there is a list of fifty-six recipients associated with the State of 
Minnesota on the plaque based on the Defense Department records.  The Medal of Honor 
Society and their archivist came back with 72 names.  John stated there is some discrepancy on 
the number of recipients and they will have to establish the criteria, adding that possibly, 
names might not be used in the new memorial. 
 
General Shellito stated to be very careful when establishing the criteria or when using the 
recipient names. 
 
Lt Governor Smith called for a vote to approve the site recommendation and proceeding with 
RFQ/RFP.  MOTION CARRIED. Lt Governor Smith thanked the presenters for all the information 
they provided to the Board.   
 
In response to the praise General Shelito shared with regard to the upkeep and improvements 
to existing memorials, Paul Mandell informed the Board that credit should be given to Plant 
Management for re-landscaping some of the memorials this past year.  
  
AGENDA ITEM #3: Reappointment of Architectural Advisor Tom Blanck 
Paul Mandell explained that the CAAPB has three Architectural Advisors and they serve four 
year terms.  He explained that Bryan Carlson, a landscape Architect, who is an appointee by the 
State Art Board; Paul Mellblom who is an appointee of Minnesota American Institute of 
Architects and Thomas Blanck who is a CAAPB appointee. Prior to Mr. Carlson and Mr. 
Mellblom arriving we had Advisors who as a result of legislative audits should be limited to 
terms.  The Advisors are paid a per diem.  Mr. Blanck has been serving on the Advisory 
committee since 1992 and being the Cass Gilbert expert that he is we had kept him on board 
especially once the Capitol project was under way as he is invaluable to the CAAPB, the 
Department of Administration and the Architects.  We are trying to finish out the rotation now 
because Mr. Blanck and Mr. Carlson’s terms are expired. Bryan joined the CAAPB two years ago 
because it took two years for the State Art Board to get through their process of appointing 
people, so Bryan and Paul are meeting with their board to explain why Bryan should be re-
appointed.  
 
The thought is with the Capitol project being completed next January that the CAAPB would 
have Tom fill out the remainder of his one year term and in that time period we would solicit 
architects who do not enter into a conflict of interest, but who are interested on serving as an 
Advisor.  We will solicit names from Architects and then a committee of the Board will conduct 
the interviews.  This will be a board appointment and that individual would serve 4 years on the 
Advisory Board.  The terms would then be more staggered than all expiring at the same time. 
The idea is to appoint Tom fill out a year term to January or until we replace him this coming 
year.   
 
4 
 



 
Lt Governor Tina Smith called for a motion to re-appoint Tom Blanck for a one year term.  
Motion made by Senator Pappas and second by board member Elaine Fink.  No discussion.  
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
Lt Governor Smith thanked Tom for all his years of service and help with the Capitol Building 
project. 
                                             
AGENDA ITEM #4: Solicitation of New Board Appointment in 2017 to Architectural Advisory 
Committee 
Paul Mandell asked for direction by the Board for staff to proceed with the solicitation of a new 
Advisory Board member.  Motion made by Board Member Ted Lentz and second by Board 
Member Greg Mathis.  No further discussion.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
AGENDA ITEM#5: Capitol Building Restoration Updates 
Paul informed the Board that they should have a report in their packet called the State Capitol 
Preservation Commission, which Wayne Waslaski will give a brief presentation on the project.    
Wayne covered some highlights and events in the report for the Board. He stated that they are 
currently at their peak work force on the project and stated a lot happens in a single day.   Mr. 
Waslaski stated that on page 18 in the report is the 2016 – 2017 schedule, noting there are 400 
workers on the project.  Mr. Waslaski stated the Capitol is scheduled for completion December 
31st, 2016.  The 2017 session starts January 3rd at noon.  There is a very short window to get 
people moved back in and the Capitol back open to the public. There will be some additional 
work going on throughout 2017.  Lt Governor Smith asked Wayne how we have done with 
women and diversity for people working on the Capitol construction project.  Wayne stated 
that we are at 29% minority hiring and 13% women working on the project. 
 
Representative Dehn asked if there was going to be any air control or purification while they 
are in the House Chambers for interim session.  Wayne stated there are new air systems up and 
running, adding that there will not be a lot of activity in this area and they will be monitoring 
the air. Representative Dehn asked about the egresses.  Wayne stated that there would be two 
points of egress.  Senator Pappas asked if there would be any elevators operating during the 
session.  Wayne stated there will be the 2 elevators in the southwest corner available for those 
that have access in the building.  The access will be to the 2nd floor only and to the first floor to 
get to the restrooms to the rear of the buildings.  Paul Mandell asked if the public will be able 
to be in the building during session.  Wayne stated that the public will have limited access and 
they are working out the details now. Senator Pappas asked if there would television access.  
Wayne explained how they will be handling the televising of session. 
 
Art Committee and Public Space Committee Paul Mandell explained what the committees has 
been doing and what artwork they are looking at and the committee’s recommendation 
regarding certain artwork.  Erin Campbell, Ted Lentz and Paul Mandell have been working on 
the Art Committee.  They will be giving a preliminary report on Tuesday, February 23rd.   
 
The Public Space Committee was appointed back to the Commissioner’s office and they have 
been looking at 30,000 public space and Paul mentioned the locations of these public spaces.   

5 
 



 
Looking at how this space will be utilized and public usage and policies.  Erin Campbell 
elaborated on the public space and making it welcoming.  She mentioned there has been 
discussion on how the space could be rented and things that go along with renting space. 
Senator Pappas stated among her travels stated that Capitol’s have been used for many 
different types of reasons.   Ted Lentz touched on what both Paul and Erin mentioned, adding 
that there is more current art today that tells the story and by using some of this art in the 
Capitol, some problems can be solved and gaps in the story filled.  Senator Pappas stated to see 
the really beautiful contemporary art in a State Capital, you need to see the roundhouse in 
Santa Fe. It’s much better than any art museum in Santa Fe.  Mr. Lentz stated that Pennsylvania 
and New Mexico are the one state that he knew of that have an Arts Preservation Committee 
for their capitol complex. Representative Dean made a recommendation to Paul and the others, 
as we move forward with the preservation commission, that the public use is very open and 
people know about that and legislature knows about that so when the building is turned back 
over to the public that people aren’t surprised about what’s going on.  Paul Mandell addressed 
Representative Dean’s comment about the public space. 
 
Fine Artwork 
Brian Szott and Brian Pease from the Historical Society passed out some photographs and ran 
through a power point presentation addressing restoration of the fine art, especially that 
accessible only via scaffolding.  They are a part of a team of 5 individuals including Wayne 
Waslaski, J. E. Dunn, Arthur Page, Conrad Schmidt and Paul Mandell that oversee the 
restoration of the art at the Capitol on a weekly basis. Brian Szott gave a little bit of a 
background in terms of the time table for various pieces.  He stated that this was a report that 
he gave on December 10th,   reminding the Board that in the budget for the restoration of the 
Capitol fine art restoration was not included in the original allocation of funds, so it wasn’t until 
March of 2015, with the generosity of the CAAPB Board, that funds were set aside to survey 
approximately 50 works of art at the Capitol. Immediately after that money was allocated, they 
contracted with Arthur Page of Page Conservation in Washington, D.C. to come out and start 
conducting surveys of the works of art at the Capitol.  Even before Arthur Page could begin his 
complete assessment, an estimate for funding for the art restoration had to be submitted to 
the Capitol Preservation Commission and also to the Legislature. So with the help of the 
Subcommittees for Art at the Capitol, an estimate of $3.25 million was established to cover the 
funding for this project.  But as early of May of 2015 there was an indication that some of the 
work was in need of substantial restoration.  In June of 2015, the $3.25 million was 
appropriated from Legacy funds in the special session of the Legislature. Since September there 
has been a team of about a dozen professionals working on the art at the Capitol.   It became 
apparent in early September that the original $3.25 million was not going to be enough to 
complete the restoration project due to the condition of some of the artwork.  The team has 
requested an additional $750,000 from contingency funds that will go before the Capitol 
Preservation Commission in February to complete the process. The restoration is going along 
beautifully and you will be amazed at how the artwork looks.  It is scheduled to be completed in 
this calendar year.  Mandell asked them to explain to the Board how the artwork is cleaned, 
and to explain what is seen on the east and west grand stairs and what damage and repairs 
were needed.   There was some brief discussion regarding cleaning and repairs to the artwork. 
 

6 
 



 
Mandell stated that all the Board members should have in their packet the policy guidelines – 
“For Works of Art in the Minnesota State Capitol” this was developed and adopted by the 
Historical Society and the CAAPB Board in 1993.  It is dated 2015, with the help of Mr. Kelliher’s 
it has been updated to include all of the statues and nothing else has been changed.  Mandell 
mentioned that at the next Board meeting the Board needs to talk about the CAAPB role in 
artwork because the CAAPB and Historical Society have an authority on this area.  Mandell 
asked the Board to read through the policy and statues and come with questions to the next 
board meeting.   Lt Governor Smith stated that some of the statues may need some clarity.  
Senator Pappas asked if this would be something they should work on during 2016.  Lt 
Governor Smith stated yes. 
 
Rep Dehn and Rep Dean left at 3:15 p.m. 
 
Board member Lentz mentioned that he had brought some marble pieces and asked if anyone 
would have ideas on what to do with the marble that has been removed from the Capitol. 
 
Mandell mentioned that Mr. Kraemer had left a newspaper clipping about Leo Thorsness for 
anyone that would like to ready the article. 
   
Lieutenant Governor Smith adjourned the meeting.  Meeting adjourned at 3:27 p.m. 
 
 
  

7 
 


